ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The trial court erred in refusing to grant a continuance. 

2. The trial court erred in refusing to grant relief for a discovery order violation. 

3. The trial court erred in admitting gruesome photographs of the victim. 

4. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the injury as to lesser included offenses. 

5. This Court should grant relief on the basis of cumulative error. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 4, 2013, a criminal complaint alleged that Defendant, Amber Lee 

Richardson, committed the crime of Murder 1 st Degree when she assisted Joshua Hubbard by 

providing the firearm and arranging for her husband, Danny Ray Richardson, to be at a location 

where Mr. Hubbard could shoot and kill him on or about June 1,2013. (A8-9). On January 14, 

2014, Mrs. Richardson was indicted on "Accessory to Murder" and "Conspiracy to Commit a 

Felony Offense: Murder." (A6-7). 

Mrs. Richardson was arraigned on the indictment on January 21, 2014. (A22-23). 

She entered a plea ofnot guilty and her trial was set for April 8, 2014. (A22-23).1 The Court 

ordered that discovery be exchanged by February 18,2014 and set a status conference for March 

17,2014. (A23). On February 6, 2014, the "State's Initial Discovery Disclosure" was filed. 

(AI5-21). That disclosure identified: thirty-five (35) items provided to the Defendant's counsel; 

another eleven (11) items that were either at the Union Detachment of the West Virginia State 

Police or at the West Virginia State Police Forensic Laboratory in Charleston; twenty-six (26) 

fact witnesses; and at least one expert witness. (AI5-21). On February 18,2014, the State filed 

1 Mrs. Richardson's counsel was Jeffrey Rodgers. Present counsel was appointed by order noted June 7, 2016 to 
initiate and perfect an appeal. (A 78). 
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the "State's Supplemental Discovery Disclosure" which identified an additional four (4) items 

and provided further detail on the State's expert witness (the medical examiner). (A24-26). 

On March 17,2014, the State filed the "State's Motion to Determine the 

Admissibility ofEvidence" for a ruling concerning the use of three statements made by the 

Defendant on June 3, 2013. (A27-29). At the hearing set on the same date, the trial court set the 

motion for hearing on March 25, 2014 and refused at that time to continue the trial noting that 

defense counsel had eight months to prepare the case while Defendant was incarcerated. (A30

31, A81-86). 

After finding that the Defendant was competent to stand trial based on a court

ordered examination, the trial court conducted a hearing on the admissibility of the statements 

she provided to law enforcement. (A29, A88-184). The State's first witness was State Police 

Sergeant Charles McKenzie. (A89). Audrey Graham (Defendant's sister) had reported the 

victim in this case, Danny Ray Richardson, missing. The trooper spoke with Mrs. Graham and 

Defendant's father, Larry Nichols. (A90). They were not satisfied with Mrs. Richardson's 

explanation concerning her missing husband. (A91). On the morning of June 3, 2014, the 

officer went to Defendant's residence. Defendant came out, and when asked, advised that her 

husband had left a text message on Saturday that he was leaving her and the children. (A93). 

Mrs. Richardson showed him the text message. (A93). During the course of the conversation 

the issue ofa missing pistol came up, and Mrs. Richardson advised that she had located it and the 

officer went into the house and followed Mrs. Richardson to the bedroom to retrieve the gun and 

to view her husband's cell phone. (A95-96). Mrs. Richardson was not mirandized before this 

interrogation. (A98-99). 
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Next, the officer asked Defendant to go to the state police detachment in Union 

for further questioning. (A96). According to the officer, Mrs. Richardson did so voluntarily by 

driving herself. (A96-97). She was not: handcuffed; told that she was under arrest; placed in any 

interrogation room, or locked in the building. (A97-98). Regardless, the officer was suspicious 

that she knew more than she was telling about her husband's disappearance and requested a 

polygraph examiner to meet him at the station. (A99). Once she arrived at the office, she was 

mirandized. (AIOO). The interrogation started at 1:30 p.m. (AI04). During the course of this 

interrogation, Sergeant Rob Richards (the polygraph examiner) arrived and started participating 

in the interrogation. (AI09). Ultimately, when asked if she had anything to do with the 

disappearance of her husband, Mrs. Richardson became upset and ultimately said that he may 

have been shot and killed on Flat Mountain by Josh Hubbard. (AI09-110). Mrs. Richardson 

advised that there had been a "plan" for her to put clothing and a gun by a shed and that Josh 

Hubbard knew where the items were at and she know that "something" was going to happen to 

her husband. (AI 11-1 13). 

At that point they returned to the residence so that Mrs. Richardson could show 

them where she thought the body might be. (AlB). Additional police officers arrived and a 

search was conducted. (AlB). The body was ultimately recovered and a search issued for 

Joshua Hubbard, who the police believed was in the area due to some clothes that were missing 

after the officer's first visit to the residence. (AI 13-1 16). 

Corporal Jerry Davis, Jr. testified next. The third interrogation ofDefendant was 

conducted by Sergeant Richards and Corporal Davis of the West Virginia State Police on June 3, 

2013 around 10:00 p.m. at the state police detachment in Union. (A 130-136). Mr. Davis 

rnirandized Mrs. Richardson and took her statement. (A136-141). Mrs. Richardson was seated, 
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but not handcuffed and had been given a drink. (A142). She did not appear to be intoxicated 

and not overly emotional. (AI44-145). The statement was recorded. (A143). Mrs. Richardson 

stated that she and Josh Hubbard were in a relationship and a plan was developed between them 

for Josh Hubbard to kill her husband. (AI45). 

The last witness was State Police polygrapher Sergeant Robert Richards. (AI58). 

Mr. Richards acknowledged that he participated in the interview with Mr. McKenzie. (A160). 

The Defendant was transported back to the station for the third interrogation by Mr. Richards. 

(AI 62). He also participated in the third interrogation. (A163-164). 

Upon the evidence presented, the trial court held that the statements were 

admissible. In addition, the court, on Defendant's motion, continued the case until May 28, 2014 

and set another status hearing for April 21, 2014. (A32-34, A177, AI80-1S1). 

At the April 21, 2014 hearing, the court offered to appoint co-counsel to the 

Defendant, but Mrs. Richardson's lawyer refused. (A187). On May 23, 2014 Defendant's 

counsel filed one of only two written motions on behalf of the Defendant in the court file, a 

"Motion for Continuance" based on the fact that trial counsel was ill. (A36-38). The trial court 

granted the motion and set the case for trial on June 10,2014. (A39, A40). 

On June 6, 2014, the Defendant again requested a continuance. The State 

responded in writing in opposition to the motion. (A41-45). The Court conducted a hearing on 

June 9, 2014, the day before the trial. (A190-207). At the hearing, counsel for the Defendant 

complained that he had just, only one business day before, received discovery from the State. 

(A191). He complained that the State Police Lab had only provided the CD to the State on the 

preceding Monday. (A191). Defendant's trial counsel advised if the case was tried tomorrow "it 

will get kicked back." (A193). The State objected to the continuance because the defense had 
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been advised of the evidence (item 46 in the initial discovery disclosure). (AI94). More 

importantly, the State confIrmed that, although in its possession, the evidence had never been 

actually provided to the Defendant's counsel because the report stated that it could not copied or 

disseminated. (AI94). The prosecuting attorney had learned that the restriction was intended to 

prevent dissemination ofchild pornography, which did not apply in this case. (AI95). Thus, on 

May 30th the prosecutor tried to copy the CD, but could not do so. (AI96). On June 5, 2014, 

only four days before trial, the Prosecutor finally received a copy of the evidence. (AI96). The 

evidence was the State Police recovery of texts and photographs on or from each Defendant's 

cellphone and from the victim's cellphone as well as deleted texts from Defendant's phone. 

(AI97-198, A202-203). Some of the texts, about 18-20 pages of material, were expected to be 

used (and were used substantially) at the trial. (AI97).2 In addition, the entire report, which 

counsel had apparently never reviewed was introduced into evidence at the trial. (A425-43 0). 

Of significant importance, the Prosecutor confirmed that "[t]he Court has expressed displeasure 

with Mr. Rogers on two or three different occasions for not meeting with his client, for not 

reviewing evidence. And here we are, the day before trial, and he wants a continuance so he can 

review more evidence. I'm adamantly opposed to it. It's not fair to the State. It's not fair to the 

State's witnesses." (AI99). The court denied the motion. (A72-74, A206). Upon Mr. Rodgers' 

request, another attorney (Martha Fleshman) was appointed to assist him on the day before 

trial. (AI92). 

The trial commenced on June 10,2014 and concluded on June 11,2014. Mr. 

Rodgers renewed his motion to continue the trial and confirmed that he had not reviewed the 

2 Defense counsel had some of the texts in written form from the evidence recovered from cedefendant Hubbard's 
phone. (A197). 
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evidence with Mrs. Richardson, but the motion was again denied. (A237). The State's first 

witness was West Virginia State Police Sergeant Charles McKenzie. (A254-255). Mr. 

McKenzie responded to a phone call that had come in from Amber Richardson's sister, Audrey 

Graham, reporting Danny Richardson missing. (A255-256). After speaking with Ms. Graham, 

the officer then spoke with Amber's father, Larry Nichols. (A256). Both of them reported that 

Danny Richardson was missing and that Amber was not clear as to why he had left. (A256). In 

addition, Mr. Nichols reported hearing gun shots near where his daughter and her husband lived. 

(A257). 

The officer then traveled to the Defendant's home and spoke to her. (A257). 

Mrs. Richardson advised that "she wasn't really sure why he left." (A259). She confirmed that 

the couple was having both financial and marital problems. (A259). She stated she had received 

a text message from him on Sunday, June 2, 2013 stating that he was leaving, that someone was 

going to pick him up, and that he would contact her at a later time to make arrangements to see 

their three children. (A259). Amber then showed him the text on her phone. The officer asked 

for, and received permission to keep her phone. (A260). Next, because the officer had been 

advised by Amber's father that she had reported a missing gun and she had the victim's phone 

(which he had reportedly left), the officer asked her about them. She advised that she had found 

the gun in the rear bedroom and the phone was in the kitchen. (A260-261). Sgt. McKenzie then 

retrieved the gun (a Taurus 9mm) and the cellphone. (A261-265).3 

3 Both items, along with photographs of where they were found in the home were admitted into evidence. 
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The Officer became uncomfortable about the situation and requested that Mrs. 

Richardson come to the Union State Police Detachment. She agreed. She dropped off her kids 

and drove herself there. (A270-271, A274). As he was leaving the home he noticed a pile of 

clothes (which he photographed) besides the back door. Amber advised him that they were her 

husband's clothes. (A271). The officer did not believe her explanation that the clothes had been 

out there for weeks. (A271). 

At the station, Amber was mirandized and questioned initially by Sgt. McKenzie, 

but sometime later Corporal Richards arrived and joined the interrogation. (A277). Eventually, 

Sgt. McKenzie asked Amber about Joshua Hubbard.4 Initially she denied having an intimate 

relationship with Hubbard and said she had not seen him in months, but eventually after being 

confronted by Corporal Richards with infonnation that Hubbard had been in the area the 

weekend of her husband's disappearance, she advised of a plan that she and Hubbard had to kill 

her husband. (A285-287). The plan was for Amber to put out some clothing that Hubbard had 

left at the residence, put a sleeping bag out, place a 9 mm pistol ofhers in a specified location 

that Hubbard was aware of, then Hubbard would ambush and murder Mr. Richardson. (A287). 

Mrs. Richardson stated she was not sure if the plan had been carried out, but advised that if it had 

happened it would have been near the chicken coop which was about halfway up the driveway to 

their house. (A288). 

Sgt. McKenzie then requested that Amber return to the home and show the police 

the places she was describing. (A288). He noticed that the clothes that had been near the back 

door were now missing and advised the various other officers that had arrived that someone may 

4 The officer had received information from Amber's father, Larry Nichols that Mr. Hubbard had stayed with the 
Richardsons for a period of time and that the victim had spoken to a Monroe County Deputy about obtaining a 
protective order against him. 
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be in the area. (A290). As the officers were sweeping the property, one of the officers observed 

a white male in the woods. (A291). He ran away and escaped. (A291). The officers observed 

evidence that Mr. Richardson's body had been moved from an area behind the chicken coop to 

an area between 75-100 yards away under an overturned tree. (A293). The body was contained 

in a sleeping bad and the body's condition made it obvious that the victim was killed more than a 

day before. (A293). The officer observed head trauma on the body. The police recovered shell 

casings from the driveway. (A294). 

After the body had been discovered, the police reportedly obtained a search 

warrant for the residence and Defendant's vehicle. (A295). Joshua Hubbard was captured on 

June 4' 2013. (A296-297). The missing clothes were discovered based on information obtained 

from interviewing Hubbard. (A298-299). Amber Richardson's and Danny Richardson's phones 

were identified by the officer and introduced into evidence. (A300-301). The officer confirmed 

that the phones had been sent off to the State Police digital forensics unit. (A301-302). 

Petitioner's trial counsel asked no questions of the witness. (A302). 

The State's next witness was State Police Corporal Jerry Davis, Jr. (A303). 

Corporal Davis assisted in interrogating Amber Richardson. (A307). He mirandized her and 

interviewed her around 10:00 p.m. on June 3, 2013. (A307-312). A portion of the interrogation 

was audiotaped. (A312). That interrogation was admitted into evidence and played to the jury. 

(A315). Corporal Davis also participated in the search for Hubbard on June 4, 2013. (A317). 

After Hubbard was captured, Corporal Davis interviewed him and located the clothes that 

Hubbard admitted to wearing when he killed Mr. Richardson. (A318-319). Photographs of 

those clothes were admitted into evidence. (A318-323). They were similar to the clothes 
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described by Amber Richardson in her recorded statement. (A318-323). Petitioner's trial 

counsel had no questions for the Corporal. (A323). 

Audrey Graham, Defendant's sister, was called by the State as the next witness. 

(A324-325). She aclmowledged that she had reported her brother-in-law missing to the police. 

(A325). Petitioner's trial counsel had no questions for her sister. 

The State then called Anna Fink as the last witness for the day. Anna Fink is a 

friend and neighbor of the Defendant and Hubbard. (A325-326). She had seen Mr. Hubbard 

with Amber Richardson on the night before Farmer's Day in 2013 (shortly before he was killed). 

The second day of the trial began with the State calling Amber Richardson's 

father, James Nichols, Jr. (A332). Mr. Nichols' testified that he lived near his daughter, 

approximately 300 yards away. (A333). On Farmer's Day of2013, Mr. Nichols took the victim 

home by picking him up on an ATV as he was walking towards his house after helping Mr. 

Nichols. (A333, A339). Mr. Richardson had told him he was going home to fix the kids supper 

because Amber had texted him and asked him to do it. (A339). Shortly thereafter, after 

returning to his own house, Mr. Nichols heard four or five gunshots, followed by a single 

additional gunshot. (A333). He became concerned, and eventually went up the road looking for 

Mr. Richardson. (A333). He could not find him either on the way to or at the house. (A334). 

But, he did see a wet spot on the road that should not have been there near the chicken coop. 

(A334, A339-340). The next day, on Sunday at 10:00 p.m. he first heard from Amber when she 

called him and she advised that Mr. Richardson had ''took off' leaving behind his cell phone and 

wedding ring. He had advised Amber he had one his friends from work pick him up and would 

call when he got settled so they could talk about the kids. (A334). Mr. Nichols lmew the victim 

well enough to lmow that he would not just "walk off from the kids." (A334). The next day he 
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asked his daughter Audrey to call in a missing person report on Mr. Richardson. (A335). Later, 

he went back to the property and noticed tire tracks running through a hay field. He followed the 

tracks and saw a pile oftrash...he was afraid that Mr. Richardson was under the trash. (A335

336). That location was not where Mr. Richardson was found. (A336). 

Mr. Nichols knew Hubbard and suspected that something improper was going on 

between him and Amber. (A336-337). Hubbard had been staying at the home. Amber left with 

Hubbard to go to Roanoke with the kids, which really upset Mr. Richardson. Eventually she 

returned, but the victim reported that Hubbard threatened to kill him. Mr. Richardson sought to 

get a "peace warrant," but the authorities refused because Hubbard was still in Virginia. (A337, 

A342). These threats occurred a few weeks before Mr. Richardson was killed. (A341). 

The State's next witness was West Virginia State Police Corporal Scott Keaton. 

(A343). Mr. Keaton processed the crime scene.5 Mr. Keaton, with help of Trooper Baker, 

secured the crime scene (the area near the chicken coop) and searched for evidence. (A349-350). 

He located multiple 9 mm brass cartridges near the chicken coop, a potential bullet hole in a tree 

near the coop, fresh cigarette butts from the same area, displaced leaves, a drag mark leading into 

the woods, and a piece offabric on a fence that intersected the drag mark. (A349-358). The 

body was located at the end of the drag marks, and Corporal Keaton also processed that crime 

scene. (A359). The body was discovered in a hole made by an uprooted tree. (A360). The body 

was contained within a sleeping bag and covered with sticks and leaves. (A361). The officer 

then took photos of the body, including photos showing insect activity, and brain material at an 

exit wound. (A363-365). 

5 He had also participated in the unsuccessful attempt to apprehend Hubbard on June 3, 2013. (A34>-348). 
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After completing the crime scene investigation, Mr. Keaton returned to the home 

to assist with a search pursuant to a search warrant. Spent and live 9 mm rounds were found in 

Mrs. Richardson's dresser in her bedroom. (A365-366). Mr. Keaton's also retrieved evidence 

from the camper at the Greenbrier County Campground where Mr. Hubbard was arrested. 

(A366-367). A cell phone wrapped in a pink shirt was retrieved from the camper. (A369-370). 

Finally, on June 6,2013, the officer secured evidence from Amber Richardson's vehicle, 

including travel receipts from the day before Farmer's Day, 2013 from Roanoke, Virginia 

businesses. (A372,376-37). Petitioner's counsel asked no questions of the officer. 

Rhonda Hall testified next for the State. (A379). She serves as the Medical 

Examiner for Monroe County. (A380). She was called out to Flat Mountain on June 3, 2013 and 

prepared a report which was introduced into evidence without objection. (388). The report was 

erroneously dated June 2, 2013 and also erroneously referred to the deceased and his wife by the 

last name Blankenship. (A383-384). 

West Virginia Deputy Chief Medical Examiner Nabila Haikal testified next. 

(A388). Dr. Haikal performed an autopsy on the victim on June 4,2013. (A391). In questioning 

Dr. Haikal, the State introduced exhibits showing close up photographs of the deceased's face, 

head, and shoulder/arm area. The defense objected to the introduction of the exhibits, but the 

objection was overruled. (A392-393, A401-402). State Ex. 73 showed a close-up of the 

deceased's face with discoloration of the skin, bruising, the bullet entrance hole, blood on the 

eyelid, and other evidence of blunt force injury. (A393-394). State Ex. 74 showed the top and 

backside of the head with multiple tears and open wounds. (A394-395). State Ex. 75 also 

showed similar injuries on the top of the head. (A395). Ex. 76 showed the bullet wounds on the 

left arm. (A395). Some of the injuries depicted, including large scrape marks, were most likely 
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inflicted post-mortem. (A397). Mr. Richardson's cause of death was the bullet wounds coupled 

with blunt force trauma to the head. (A397-398). The autopsy report was admitted without 

objection. (A399-400). 

The State's last witness was Christopher Vance, an analyst for the West Virginia 

State Police, Digital Forensic Unit. (A411). In this case, he examined three cell phones, three 

SIM cards, and two removable storage devices. (A421-422). The first cell phone, a Rugby Pro, 

was associated with telephone number 304-646-9891. (A421). The second cell phone, a ''Noke

2"6 (sic) was associated with telephone number 304-646-7883. (A422). The third cell phone, a 

''tract phone"? (sic) was associated with phone number 217-317-0175. (A422). The phones were 

searched for text messages, call logs, contacts, images, videos, databases, and any other file type 

that they might find relevant files within. (A422). The report prepared by Mr. Vance was 

admitted into evidence. (A420-421). In addition, the DVD of the entire report generated by the 

unit was introduced into evidence as Ex. 79. (A425-43 0). 8 A report, prepared by Mr. Vance, 

consisting ofeighteen pages of text messages, calls logs, etc. constituting 610 records was 

admitted into evidence. (A432-437).9 Included in the report were fragments and presumptively 

complete text messages (some of which had been deleted and recovered) to and from contacts 

identified as "Josh H" and "Ray" on or near June 1,2013. The prosecutor specifically asked 

about a number ofmessages. IO (A446-454). Petitioner's counsel had no questions for Mr. 

Vance.

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