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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The trial court did not err when it refused Petitioner's third motion for a continuance of 

her trial. The trial court had previously inquired whether additional time was needed and 

Petitioner's counsel did not indicate that any additional time was necessary. Moreover, 

Petitioner's request for more time was based upon the mistaken belief that evidence was not 

previously disclosed to her (it had been). Similarly, the trial court did not err when it chose not to 

grant Petitioner relief for an alleged discovery violation. The reason the court did not err is 

simple: There was no discovery violation. Petitioner was under the wrong impression that 

evidence had not been previously provided to her (it had been) and that other evidence had not 

been properly disclosed (it also had been). 

Petitioner's third assignment of error-that the court erred in admitting gruesome 

photographs at trial-is similarly without merit. As the record reflects, Petitioner did not object 

to the admission of these photographs due to any sort of "gruesomeness." Instead, the objection 

was based upon relevancy or, charitably construing the basis for the objection, perhaps on the 

ground that it was cumulative. As a result, the lower court could not have erred in this respect. 

Moreover, even assuming for the sake of argument that an objection had been raised on this 
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ground, the photographs are not gruesome and were properly admitted. 

Relate4ly, Petitioner's claim on appeal that the court erred when it declined to give a 

lesser included instruction to the charge of accessory to murder in the first degree fails. There 

was no objection to this ruling. Even if there had been, as the lower court recognized, there was 

an overwhelming amount of evidence showing that Petitioner conspired with and assisted 

Hubbard in murdering Danny Ray and no evidence to support a lesser included instruction. In 

fact, Petitioner admitted to the jury that she planned to kill her husband and then helped Hubbard 

carry out that plan. Finally, there are no cumulative errors because none of Petitioner's claims of 

error have any merit. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Petitioner's first assignment of error-that the trial court erred in denying her motion to 

continue-is reviewed under an "abuse of discretion" standard. Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Farley, No. 

15-1068, 2017 WL 958598 CW. Va. Mar. 7, 2017). Petitioner's second assignment of error 

alleges that the State violated its discovery obligations. This Court has identified a number of 

tests to determine whether a discovery violation warrants relief. See, e.g., Syl. pt. 3, State v. 

Weaver, 181 W. Va. 274, 382 S.E.2d 327 (1989); Syl. pt, 2 of State v. Osakalumi. 194 W. Va. 

758, 461 S.E.2d 504 (1995); State v. Youngblood, 221 W. Va. 20, 26, 650 S.E.2d 119, 125 

(2007). However, as discussed herein, no such violation occurred and none of these tests are 

applicable. 

Petitioner's third assignment of error should not be reviewed by this Court because it has 

not been properly briefed. Insofar as this assignment of error is reviewed, it should be reviewed 

for "plain error" and, assuming this evidentiary challenge is appropriate for review tmder this 

standard, the trial court's decision to permit introduction of certain photographs is reviewed 

deferentially-under an abuse of discretion standard. See Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 
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165,451 S.E.2d 731 (1994). Fourth, the trial court's decision that Petitioner was not entitled to a 

lesser included instruction on the charge of accessory before the fact to first degree murder 

should be reviewed for plain error given that trial counsel did not object to this ruling. 

Ultimately, a court's refusal to give a lesser included instruction will be upheld where the 

evidence adduced at trial did not support such an instruction. Syl. Pt. 9, State v. Farley, No. 15

1068,2017 WL 958598 (W. Va. Mar. 7,2017). 

ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court properly denied Petitioner's last-minute motion to continue her trial. 

"A motion for continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and its 

ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing that there has been an abuse of 

discretion." Syl. pt. 2, State v. Bush, 163 W.Va. 168,255 S.E.2d 539 (1979); State v. Leonard, 

217 W. Va. 603, 611, 619 S.E.2d 116, 124 (2005). As this Court explained in Bush, "[w]hether 

there has been an abuse of discretion in denying a continuance must be decided on a case-by

case basis in light of the factual circumstances presented, particularly the reasons for the 

continuance that were presented to the trial court at the time the request was denied." Bush, 163 

W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 3,255 S.E.2d at 540. Factors relevant to this inquiry include the likelihood of 

prejudice from the denial of a motion to continue, the skill of the attorney, the availability of 

discovery from the prosecution, and the complexity of the case. !d. at Syl. Pt. 4, 225 S.E.2d at 

540; see also Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Farley, No. 15-1068,2017 WL 958598, at *2 (W. Va. Mar. 7, 

2017) (recognizing that a circuit court's denial of a motion to continue does not constitute 

reversal error unless the "refusal has worked injury and prejudice to the rights of the party in 

whose behalf the motion was made."). 
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Here, Petitioner's motion to continue was based upon the claim that the State had only 

recently identified and provided Petitioner with certain discovery. (Supp. App.). However, 

Petitioner (or, more accurately, Petitioner's trial counsel) was incorrect in this claim-the 

discovery had been previously identified and provided. (App. at 18-29; see also id. at 72-73). 

Thus, Petitioner's claim-that she would be prejudiced unless the trial date was pushed back

was factually wrong and therefore, without merit. Consequently, the lower court properly denied 

the motion. 

Relatedly, the DVD (or CD, as it is sometimes referred) containing data from various cell 

phones had been identified in the State's initial discovery disclosure and was available for 

inspection since the date it was disclosed. (See App. at 73). Petitioner (or, more accurately, 

Petitioner's trial counsel) simply never bothered to request a viewing of that evidence. (See id.). 

At the end of the day, Petitioner's trial counsel wanted more time because he alleged he had not 

spent enough time reviewing the evidence. (!d. at 198-99). But he had already received 

extensions and had previously represented that no further extensions were necessary. (See id. at 

199). He could have viewed this evidence any time after it was disclosed, but chose not to. For 

these reasons, Petitioner was not prejudiced and the lower court's denial of Petitioner's motion 

was proper and should be fully affirmed. 6 

2. There was no discovery violation. 

Despite Petitioner's protestations to the contrary, there simply was no discovery 

violation. As recounted above, the State identified Item 46 in its initial discovery disclosure, 

which was provided on February 6, 2014, shortly after Petitioner was indicted. (App. at 18-19). 

The State informed Petitioner that these documents could be viewed at the Union Detachment of 

6 Petitioner's brief on appeal lodges multiple complaints about her trial counsel's performance. 
(See, e.g., Pet'r Brief at 15, 18 n.16). However, the States notes that Petitioner has not raised a claim of 
ineffective assistance ofcounsel in this appeal. 
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the West Virginia State Police or at the West Virginia State Police Forensic Laboratory in 

Charleston, West Virginia. (ld. at 18-19). Petitioner's counsel simply did not bother to view 

them. That, however, does not equate to a discovery violation. The items were properly and 

timely disclosed. 

Moreover, Petitioner's complaint that this "key evidence was not produced in any form to 

the defendant until [four days before trial]" misses the point for two reasons. First, (and again), 

this report could have been inspected at any point in time, and second, Item 27 contained the text 

messages at issue, were identified in the State's initial disclosure, and were provided to 

Petitioner's counsel on that same date. (ld. at 41-43). Petitioner's reliance upon Weaver is 

misplaced as that case involved the State's failure to disclosure material evidence. See State v. 

Weaver, 181 W. Va. 274, 382 S.E.2d 327 (1989). Here, that evidence was disclosed; in fact, it 

was disclosed in the State's initial disclosure. (App. at 18-19; see also id. at 202 and 73). 

3. Admission of the photographs was proper. 

Petitioner contends that the trial court wrongly admitted four (4) photographs over 

Petitioner's objections on the ground that the photographs were gruesome. (pet'r Brief at 22). 

There are two problems with this claim. First, Petitioner did not object to these photographs on 

the ground that they were gruesome. Petitioner's representation otherwise in her brief-whether 

intentional or inadvertent-is misleading. Instead, at best, the objection was on the ground that 

the photographs were irrelevant or cumulative. That is, when the trial court asked Petitioner's 

counsel to put on the record the basis for the objection to these four photographs, Petitioner's 

counsel stated: 

I believe State's No. 73, 74, 75, and 76, inasmuch as [Petitioner] has given a full 
and complete statement of her involvement in this matter to the State Police [ ], 
and the fact that Josh Hubbard's involvement in Danny Richardson's death is 
uncontroverted, I just didn't see any reason for them. We already have other 
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pictures of Danny's - Danny's body after death out there at the house in the 
woods. And so I was just going to ask the Court - I thought we'd pretty much 
established his manner of death and how it occurred. I just thought it seemed a 
little like overkill. 

(App. at 401). This is not an objection based upon "gruesomeness," which explains why the trial 

court did not evaluate whether the photographs should be excluded due to any amount of 

gruesomeness.7 

In this appeal, this claim should have been brought under the "plain error" doctrine. See 

Syl. pt. 7, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995) (further explaining that 

application of the plain error doctrine is necessary where alleged trial errors have not been 

properly preserved). It was not. Consequently, the argument is deficient, and a petitioner cannot 

establish an entitlement to relief where he has failed to offer an argument grounded in the 

relevant law. See State ex rei. Gary Mullins v. Jim Rubenstein, Comm'r, W. Va. Div. of Corr., 

No. 16-0046, 2017 WL 944056, at *5 (W. Va. Mar. 10, 2017) ("A skeletal 'argument,' really 

nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim .... Judges are not like pigs, hunting 

for truffles buried in briefs.") (internal citations and quotations omitted). Moreover, Petitioner 

has not advanced any meaningful argument in this appeal that the photographs were irrelevant or 

cumulative, and therefore, such claims will not be addressed in this Response Brief. 

7 "The admissibility of photographs over a gruesome objection must be determined on a case-by
case basis pursuant to Rules 401 through 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence." Syl. Pt. 5, State v. 
Greenfield, 237 W. Va. 740, 791 S.E.2d 403 (2016) (quoting Syl. Pt. 8, State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 165,451 
S.E.2d 731 (1994)). As this Court explained in State v. Derr and recently reiterated in Syllabus Point 6 of 
State v. Greenfield, a circuit court's decision to admit a photograph into evidence at trial is essentially a 
two-step process: The trial court should determine whether the photograph is relevant under 401, which is 
to say "whether the photograph is probative as to a fact of consequence in the case." The trial court ''then 
must consider whether the probative value of the exhibit is substantially outweighed by the counterfactors 
listed in Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence." Greenfield, 237 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 6 (in part), 
791 S.E.2d at 407 (quoting Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994)). A trial 
court is given substantial deference by this Court on appeal: "As to the balancing under Rule 403, the trial 
court enjoys broad discretion. The Rule 403 balancing test is essentially a matter of trial conduct, and the 
trial court's discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." Id. 
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Second, and assuming purely for the sake of argument and assuming this claim could be 

raised outside of the plain error doctrine, it is manifestly apparent that these photographs are not 

gruesome. The photographs depict the body of the victim in a sterile environment. His wounds 

appear to have been cleaned, and there is no blood or other matter visible in the photographs. 

The victim has some injuries (bruising, scuffing, and the bullet wounds) but there is nothing 

objectively repulsive or even particularly upsetting. The photographs (to the extent possible 

given the subject matter) are unremarkable. They are not gruesome. 

4. 	 Petitioner was not entitled to a lesser included offense instruction because she 
admitted at trial, unequivocally, that she planned to murder her husband and that 
she assisted Hubbard in carrying out the murder. 

It is well-established that '" [i]nstructions must be based upon the evidence and an 

instruction which is not supported by the evidence should not be given.'" Syl. Pt. 9, State v. 

Farley, No. 15-1068,2017 WL 958598, at *2 (W. Va. Mar. 7,2017) (quoting Syl. pt. 4, State v. 

Collins, 154 W.Va. 771, 180 S.E.2d 54 (1971) and Syl. Pt. 14, State v. Davis, 232 W.Va. 398, 

752 S.E.2d 429 (2013)). Here, there was no evidentiary basis to support Petitioner's request for a 

lesser included instruction to the first degree murder charge (or, more accurately, her role as an 

accessory to the murder). As outlined above, there was an overwhelming amount of evidence 

establishing Petitioner's criminal intent and premeditation because Petitioner told the jury she 

planned to kill her husband. (App. at 492). She admitted that she helped Hubbard kill her 

husband. (Id. at 492). She admitted that she was an "active involved participant in this plot[.]" 

(ld. at 491-92). There was no evidence to contradict this testimony (which, again, was her own 

testimony). It is hardly surprising, then, that the lower court found that there was no evidence to 
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support a lesser included offense given that the evidence adduced at trial established 

premeditation. (Id. at 498-500).8 

5. There is no cumulative error. 

As discussed above, Petitioner's four assignments of error are each meritless. There can 

be no cumulative error without multiple errors. State v. Knuckles, 196 W. Va. 416, 425, 473 

S.E.2d 131, 140 (1996). ("Cumulative error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters 

determined to be error, not the cumulative effect ofnon-errors."). As a result, this claim fails. 

CONCLUSION 

Petitioner's conviction and sentence should be fully affirmed. Her requested relief should 

be denied entirely.